Issue: Supporting the Independence of Persons with Dementia Released : October 2015

Context

Health research — synthesized and contextualized for use in Newfoundland & Labrador

111

Evidence

Supporting the Independence of Persons with Dementia *in* Newfoundland and Labrador

Neena Chappell, Stephen Bornstein, Rosemarie Goodyear, Rob Kean, David Speed



Find CHRSP Reports Online

All reports of the Contextualized Health Research Synthesis Program are available online: **www.nlcahr.mun.ca/chrsp/**

This contextualized health research synthesis report was prepared by the Newfoundland & Labrador Centre for Applied Health Research (NLCAHR), Memorial University. It was developed through the analysis, interpretation and synthesis of scientific research and/or health technology assessments conducted by other parties. It also incorporates selected information provided by experts in the subject areas and synthesis methodologies. This document may not fully reflect all the scientific evidence available at the time this report was prepared. Other relevant scientific findings may have been reported since completion of this synthesis report.

Memorial University, NLCAHR, and the CHRSP project team make no warranty, expressed or implied, nor assume any legal liability or responsibility for the accuracy, completeness, or usefulness of any information, data, product, or process disclosed in this report. Conclusions drawn from, or actions undertaken on the basis of, information included in this report are the sole responsibility of the user.

This report is the property of the Newfoundland & Labrador Centre for Applied Health Research (NLCAHR). Reproduction of this document for non-commercial purposes is permitted provided proper credit is given to NLCAHR.

For further information please contact: nlcahr@mun.ca

Cite as: Chappell, N., Bornstein, S., Goodyear, R., Kean, R., Speed, D. (2015). Supporting the Independence of Persons with Dementia in Newfoundland and Labrador. St. John's, NL: Newfoundland & Labrador Centre for Applied Health Research, Memorial University

ISBN: 978-0-88901-467-1

Contents

About This Report4
About NLCAHR4
About the Contextualized Health Research Synthesis Program4
Who Should Read This Report?4
The Research Team5
Acronyms
Glossary
The Research Question
Background7
Synthesis of the Evidence
Table 1: AMSTAR scores for systematic reviews synthesized in this report 9
Table 2: Evidence categories for the effectiveness of interventions and their criteria
Interventions with promising evidence11
Psychoeducational support interventions for caregivers11
Case Management14
Physical exercise15
Interventions targeting ADL performance17
Interventions with insufficient evidence
Respite care
Meditation19
Summary of Review Evidence
Table 3: Evidence Categories, Criteria and Interventions in Each Category
The Newfoundland and Labrador Context
Contextualization Approach21
Client Base
Service Landscape23
Human Resources
Table 4: Physiotherapists by Primary Place of Employment and Province/Territory of Registration
Table 5: Occupational Therapists by Primary Place of Employment and Province/Territory of Registration31
Considerations for Decision Makers
References

About This Report

About NLCAHR

The Newfoundland and Labrador Centre for Applied Health Research, established in 1999, contributes to the effectiveness of the health and community services system of the province and the physical, social, and psychological well-being of the population. NLCAHR accomplishes this mandate by building capacity in applied health research, supporting high quality research, and fostering more effective use of research evidence by decision makers and policy makers in the province's health system.

About the Contextualized Health Research Synthesis Program

In 2007, NLCAHR launched the Contextualized Health Research Synthesis Program (CHRSP) to provide research evidence that would help guide decision makers in the provincial health system on issues of pressing interest to Newfoundland and Labrador.

CHRSP analyzes findings from high-level research already conducted in the subject area, such as systematic reviews, meta-analyses and health technology assessments. Findings are then synthesized and subjected to a systematic process of contextualization: they are analyzed in terms of their applicability to the conditions and capacities of the unique context of Newfoundland and Labrador. Our contextual analysis includes assessing the specific forms an issue may take in this province as well as the applicability of any proposed solutions and methods to locally available resources, infrastructure, human resources, cultural conditions and financial capacities. CHRSP uses a combination of external experts and local networks to carry out and contextualize the research synthesis and to facilitate the uptake of the results by research users. CHRSP focuses on three types of projects: health services/ health policy projects, health technology assessment (HTA) projects, and projects that combine the two to examine processes for the organization or delivery of care involving a health technology.

Who Should Read This Report?

This report provides a synthesis of the relevant researchbased evidence on preventing or delaying the admission of persons with dementia to long-term care in Newfoundland and Labrador. This report is intended to inform and assist decision makers in Newfoundland and Labrador's four Regional Health Authorities and its Departments of Health and Community Services, and Seniors, Wellness and Social Development. The findings of our synthesis are based on an international search of the literature and may also be applicable to other countries, but are specifically interpreted for the context of Newfoundland and Labrador.

Decision makers from other jurisdictions, especially those with similar potential clients, geography and resources, may also find the content helpful. The report includes explanations of research terms and technical language; as such, there is no need to have a specialized medical or health background in order to understand its content.

The Research Team

Report Authors:

Dr. Neena Chappell Canada Research Chair in Social Gerontology Professor of Sociology University of Victoria (Subject Expert)

Dr. Stephen Bornstein Director NL Centre for Applied Health Research (CHRSP Program Director)

Rob Kean Research Officer NL Centre for Applied Health Research (CHRSP Project Lead)

David Speed Research Officer NL Centre for Applied Health Research

Rosemarie Goodyear Chief Executive Officer Central Health (Health System Leader)

Other Project Team Members:

Cathie Barker Pinsent Regional Manager Personal Care Home Program, Eastern Health

Carla Butt Clinical Physiotherapist Saint Luke's Homes/Agnes Pratt Home Eastern Health

Jennifer Fahey Occupational Therapist St. John's Long-Term Care Eastern Health Valery Goulding Clinical Educator, Long-Term Car Eastern Health

Kelly Heisz Executive Director Seniors' Resource Centre of NL

Henry Kielley Consultant, Seniors and Aging Division Department of Seniors, Wellness, & Social Development, Government NL

Renee Luedee-Warren Regional Director,Long-Term Care Western Health

Melinda Noel Director of Health Services – Green Bay Green Bay Health Centre, Central Health

Deborah Noseworthy Physiotherapist, Long-Term Care Eastern Health

Carla Wells Nurse Educator Western Regional School of Nursing Adjunct Professor Grenfell Campus - Memorial University

Beverley Woodward Manager of Home Supports Seniors and Rehabilitative Services Labrador-Grenfell Health

External Reviewer:

Dorothy Forbes, RN, BNSc, MN, PhD Professor, Faculty of Nursing University of Alberta

Acronyms

ADL	Activities of Daily Living								
AMSTAR	Assessment of Multiple Systematic Reviews								
CHRSP	ntextualized Health Research Synthesis Program								
CI	Confidence Interval								
СІНІ	Canadian Institute for Health Information								
рисс	Department of Health and Community Services								
DHCS	(Government of Newfoundland and Labrador)								
HSP	Iome Support Program								
LTC	ong-Term Care								
LUFOA	Life Unlimited for Older Adults								
RCT	Randomized Controlled Trial								
PwD	Persons with Dementia								
RHA	Regional Health Authority								
SAP	Special Assistance Program								
SRC	Seniors' Resource Centre								

Glossary

AMSTAR	Assessment of Multiple Systematic Reviews: an 11-item instrument used to assess the					
	methodological rigor of systematic reviews					
	Facilities that provide living accommodation for people who require on-site delivery of					
Long-Term Care	24-hour, seven-day-a-week supervised care, including professional health services;					
	personal care services; and services such as meals, laundry, and housekeeping					
	Research that involves the collection and analysis of data from actual participants, as					
Primary	opposed to the combination of such research (i.e., higher level studies) or secondary					
Research	analyses of previously-collected data					
Randomized	A type of primary research in which participants are randomized with regard to					
	treatment, with the objective of eliminating confounding factors that may exist among					
Controlled Trial	the participants					
Systematic	A literature review that tries to identify, select, appraise, and synthesize published and					
Review	unpublished research evidence relevant to a specific research question					

_

The Research Question

"What interventions are most effective in preventing or delaying the admission of people with dementia to longterm care?"

Background

In 2014, the Newfoundland and Labrador Department of Health and Community Services (DHCS) and the four Regional Health Authorities (RHAs) asked the Contextualized Health Research Synthesis Program (CHRSP) to identify and review the best available research-based evidence on care options for people with mild to moderate levels of dementia (at the time this topic was selected for study, the Department of Seniors, Wellness, and Social Development of the Government of Newfoundland and Labrador had not yet been created). Although this subject area was initially suggested by officials at Central Health, consultations with the province's other Regional Health Authorities and with the Department of Health and Community Services revealed that supporting the independence of persons with dementia was a high-priority issue across the province.

CHRSP personnel assembled a project team that included officials from the four RHAs and the DHCS, the Executive Director of the Seniors' Resource Centre of Newfoundland and Labrador, and a faculty member from the Western Regional School of Nursing. Dr. Neena Chappell, Canada Research Chair in Social Gerontology and Professor of Sociology at the University of Victoria, agreed to serve as Subject Expert for the project.

At the first project meeting, team members decided that the requested synthesis should focus on interventions that could potentially help people with dementia to stay out of long-term care (LTC). In this report the term "LTC" refers to any facility that provides living accommodation for people who require on-site delivery of 24-hour, seven-day-a-week supervised care. In Newfoundland and Labrador, admission to LTC is restricted to people requiring what is known as "level three" care or higher. Level three care is defined as care "that [is] required by a person who is chronically ill and/or has a functional

disability (physical or mental)" and who "therefore requires a range of therapeutic services, medical management, and skilled nursing care plus provision for psychosocial needs" for months or years (1). The team also identified a set of outcomes that would be used in the synthesis to assess the various interventions described in the research literature. Preliminary literature searches indicated that, when assessing interventions designed to maximize the independence of people with dementia and reduce their reliance on LTC, researchers often evaluate an intervention's effectiveness according to 'proximate' outcomes such as institutionalization or delayed institutionalization, as well as a set of more 'distal' outcomes such as performance of activities of daily living (ADL) and caregiver burden. Through subsequent discussions, the team resolved that the synthesis would only include articles that measured:

- a 'proximate' outcome such as delayed institutionalization, and/or
- *at least one* of the following 'distal' outcomes:
 - o ADL performance
 - o caregiver burden or distress, and
 - o safety of the care recipient

Project team members, each of whom has a professional and/or scholarly background in care for persons with dementia, felt strongly that these particular distal outcomes were important because they are often determinants of admissions to LTC.

Synthesis of the Evidence

Our synthesis is based primarily on evidence from systematic literature reviews. We restricted our search to reviews published between January 2010 and January 2015 because we wanted to select only those reviews that included the most recent primary research available at that time. In the end, we selected 27 reviews. To supplement this review evidence, we also conducted a search for randomized controlled trials (RCTs) published too recently to have been eligible for inclusion in any of our selected reviews. On this basis, we retrieved 12 RCTs published between March 2014 and March 2015. Detailed descriptions of our inclusion criteria, search strategy, article selection, and critical appraisal of selected articles are contained in the online companion document:

<u>http://www.nlcahr.mun.ca/CHRSP/PwDOnlineCD.pdf</u> This companion document also includes a table containing details about all selected articles.

Our critical appraisal methodology for systematic reviews employed the Assessment of Multiple Systematic Reviews (AMSTAR) tool, a validated measurement tool for evaluating the methodological quality of systematic reviews (2). A high AMSTAR score can be taken as an indicator that the various stages of the review were conducted appropriately. A low AMSTAR score does not necessarily mean that the review should be discarded, but that less confidence can be placed in its findings and that the review must be examined closely to take its limitations into consideration. In Table 1 below, we provide the AMSTAR scores for the reviews included in the synthesis, ranked from the highest score to the lowest.

Review Year	AMSTAR			
	Score			
Lins 2014 (3)	90%			
Jensen 2014 (4)	80%			
Maayan 2014 (5)	80%			
Vernooij-Dassen 2011 (6)	64%			
Orgeta 2014 (7)	60%			
Carrion 2013 (8)	56%			
Tam-Tham 2013 (9)	55%			
Burton 2015 (10)	50%			
Somme 2012 (11)	50%			
Drennan 2012 (12)	44%			
Boots 2014 (13)	40%			
McKechnie 2014 (14)	40%			
Meyer 2013 (15)	40%			
Pitkala 2013a (16)	40%			
Van't Leven 2013 (17)	40%			
Zabalegui 2014 (18)	40%			
Corbett 2012 (19)	36%			
Olazarán 2010 (20)	36%			
Hurley 2014 (21)	33%			
Marim 2013 (22)	30%			
McLaren 2013 (23)	30%			
Schoenmakers 2010 (24)	27%			
Godwin 2013 (25)	22%			
Buettner 2010 (26)	20%			
Goy 2010 (27)	20%			
de Werd 2013 (28)	18%			
Martin-Carrasco 2014 (29)	18%			

Table 1: AMSTAR scores for systematic reviews synthesized in this report

As this table indicates, not all reviews were deemed equal in terms of methodological quality; we took this variability into account when formulating our conclusions. We also took into account the number of primary studies each review covered. In general, we assigned greater weight to higher-quality and more comprehensive systematic reviews.

The twelve included RCTs were appraised using the Cochrane Risk of Bias Tool (30). We found that the inability to blind personnel and participants inevitably placed these trials at risk of performance bias, but this is generally true of most research into interventions of this nature. Additionally, most of the included RCTs assessed subjective outcomes that were reported by the (un-blinded) study participants

themselves, placing them at risk of detection bias. The four trials that assessed objective outcomes (e.g., cognitive performance or time-to-transfer out of home) used blind raters, and we judged these studies to be at low risk of detection bias. Random sequence generation procedures were sufficiently well-described to permit a judgment of low risk in just over half of the included studies, but only two studies clearly demonstrated that they had taken steps to conceal the allocation sequence. Explanations of the flow of participants through these studies were generally ambiguous and confusing, though we judged the risk of attrition bias to be low in four cases. Previously-published study protocols were generally inaccessible, so the risk of reporting bias was unclear in all cases. Our Risk of Bias assessments are consistent with those conducted by the authors of the Cochrane reviews included in our synthesis (3,5), suggesting that the methodological strengths and weaknesses of these twelve RCTs are fairly common within this area of research.

This synthesis evaluates the available research evidence on healthcare interventions for persons with dementia who are not already residing in LTC. We are specifically interested in evidence that might enable us to ascertain an intervention's effectiveness in improving one or more of the targeted outcomes listed earlier: institutionalization, activities of daily living, functional decline, caregiver burden or distress, and/or safety of the care recipient. In the pages below, we present the evidence gathered by various researchers to determine the effectiveness of given interventions, and we categorize it as:

- promising,
- suggestive, or
- insufficient at present.

When considering these designations, readers should not necessarily conclude that an intervention is generally ineffective or harmful simply because we have stated that there is, at present, insufficient evidence to demonstrate its effectiveness. In the first place, this synthesis focuses narrowly on the outcomes described above. An intervention that fails to have a measurable impact on these outcomes might nonetheless have a positive effect on other important outcomes, such as quality of life. Furthermore, some of the interventions described below may not demonstrate effectiveness when they are evaluated as stand-alone measures, but they might yield different results if they were to be tested in combination with other interventions. Finally, researchers are continually adding new findings and insights to the existing body of knowledge on this subject, and interventions that are not presently supported by a great deal of research may very well demonstrate their effectiveness in future research efforts.

To clarify these categories even further:

• Where we have characterized the evidence for the effectiveness of a given intervention as **promising**, we feel decision makers can be reasonably confident in the effectiveness of that intervention as a means for producing positive change in one or more of the following outcomes: institutionalization, activities of daily living, functional decline, caregiver burden, and/or safety of the care recipient.

- If the evidence for the effectiveness of an intervention is described as **suggestive**, then it may be worth trying, though planners and decision-makers would be well-advised to carefully evaluate its effect on targeted outcomes.
- Finally, if the evidence for the effectiveness of an intervention is deemed to be **insufficient at present**, then readers should be cautioned against developing an expectation that this intervention will, by itself, yield significant benefits with respect to targeted outcomes.

Table 2 below outlines the evidence categories we used in this report and the criteria for each. The reader should note that we tailored these criteria to this particular subject, with the aim of developing a ranking system that clearly distinguishes the *relative* strength of the evidence for particular interventions within the overall body of research on the subject. Therefore, these criteria would not necessarily be applicable to other questions or bodies of research.

Evidence Category	Criteria
PROMISING	Evidence for the effectiveness of the intervention is provided in one or more high-quality reviews (i.e., AMSTAR score ≥ 67%), encompassing 5 or more different primary studies
SUGGESTIVE	There is partial or qualified evidence to demonstrate the effectiveness of the intervention, derived from one or more moderate-to-high quality reviews (i.e., AMSTAR score >33%) encompassing more than one primary study
INSUFFICIENT AT PRESENT	Either there is no moderate-to-high quality review evidence to demonstrate the effectiveness of the intervention, or the combined reviews include only one primary study, or no primary studies on this intervention.

Table 2: Evidence categories for the effectiveness of interventions and their criteria

Interventions with promising evidence

Psychoeducational support interventions for caregivers

There were two high-quality reviews in our synthesis, Jensen 2014 and Lins 2014, and seven moderatequality reviews, Boots 2014, Corbett 2012, McKechnie 2014, Olazarán 2010, Van't Leven 2013, Vernooij-Dassen 2011, Zabalegui 2014, that evaluated the effectiveness of psychoeducational caregiver support interventions on caregiver burden or distress. These interventions vary in their mode of delivery (i.e., face-to-face or internet or telephone delivery) and in the balance they sought to strike between educational and psychosocial components. Overall, there is considerable moderate-quality review evidence to support psychoeducational caregiver-targeted interventions of all types, and the high-quality review by Jensen et al. finds that "educational programmes for carers of community dwelling patients with dementia have a protective effect on caregiver burden" (4, p. 11). This finding is supported by a meta-analysis of five primary studies, each with low-to-moderate risk of bias (31-35), that showed a moderate effect (standardized mean difference = -0.52; 95% confidence interval [CI] -0.79 to -0.26, p<0.0001). These five studies all evaluated structured, face-to-face education programs designed to address topics relevant to dementia caregiving and the caregiver role. For this reason, we describe the evidence for the effectiveness of psychoeducational caregiver-targeted support interventions as promising, particularly when these interventions are delivered face-to-face and incorporate a strong focus on practical caregiving skills and strategies. Three of the five trials evaluated interventions delivered in a one-on-one format and two evaluated group-based programs. The total duration of educational sessions ranged from 2.5 to 24 hours with an average duration of eleven hours spread over a period of nine weeks. Interventions in all five trials were delivered by health

professionals. It should be noted, however, that there was one study in the review by Jensen et al. that reported on transitions to LTC, and it found no effect of psychoeducational caregiver-targeted interventions on this outcome at 15-month follow-up (36).

Evidence demonstrating the effectiveness of web- or telephone-based interventions is somewhat more muted, though the existing research suggests that the still-developing field of computer-mediated psychoeducational support holds promise. A moderate-quality review by McKechnie et al. of computer-mediated interventions that were focused primarily on education reported statistically significant positive effects on caregiver burden in five studies of medium and high quality (37-41), but not in four others (42-45). The reviewers state that additional research is needed to determine the efficacy of There is **promising** evidence for the effectiveness of psychoeducational support interventions as a means of relieving caregiver burden, particularly when these interventions are delivered faceto-face by health professionals and incorporate a strong focus on practical caregiving skills and strategies.

individual intervention components as well as the optimal intensity and duration of exposure to interventions. Nevertheless, they conclude that:

[C]omputer-mediated intervention[s] for informal carers of PwD... offer a range of potential benefits. This review found that their effectiveness is mixed, but generally positive. This suggests that it would be beneficial to carers, and also to services—in terms of reaching more carers as well as potential cost saving implications—for this medium of intervention to be developed so that more individuals can benefit (14, p. 1634).

In much the same vein, a moderate-quality review (13) of web-based modes of support found that caregiver burden decreased significantly in two studies (37, 46) but not in two others (44, 47). These reviewers note, however, that one of the latter two studies did detect a significant difference in caregiver burden between non-users and frequent users of the website. By contrast, interventions delivered exclusively over the telephone seem to have less support. The highest-quality review in our synthesis evaluated telephone counselling for caregivers, which was described as "eliciting a person's

concerns, listening, and providing support, information, or teaching in response to a person's stated concerns, over the telephone" (3, p. 2). These reviewers' meta-analysis of four studies (48-51) revealed no clear positive effect of this intervention on caregiver burden.

The other five moderate-quality reviews combined studies of face-to-face interventions with interventions delivered via telephone or web. A Cochrane review by Vernooij-Dassen et al., which fell just short of our threshold for a high-quality rating, evaluated "cognitive reframing interventions" designed to recalibrate caregivers' understanding of their responsibilities, needs, and loved ones' behaviour. Combined results from the four studies in their review that measured caregiver burden showed no significant benefit; however, a separate meta-analysis of studies that measured caregiver distress (38, 52-54) *did* indicate significant though modest benefit (standardized mean difference = - 0.24; 95% CI -0.40 to -0.07, p=0.006). On this basis, these reviewers conclude that "[I]n clinical practice, cognitive reframing could be a useful additional tool in individualised support for carers of people with dementia" (6, p. 11).

Corbett 2012, Olazarán 2010, Van't Leven 2013, and Zabalegui 2014 each included studies on a range of interventions that varied greatly in their length, their mode of delivery, their precise mix of instructional and psychosocial components, and their intended targets (i.e., caregivers, care recipients, or both). For example, both Corbett 2012 and Olazarán 2010 mix studies of caregiver-targeted psychoeducational support together with studies of interventions that are perhaps best understood as forms of dementia case management; therefore, these reviews do not enable the reader to draw conclusions specific to either type of intervention. Fortunately, Van't Leven 2013 distinguishes more clearly between the two. This review included eight studies that assessed the effect on caregiver burden of multi-component interventions involving psychoeducational support delivered over six to 10 home visits or group sessions during a period of five weeks to six months. Six of these studies showed a significant positive effect (53, 55-59) and two did not (60, 61). These reviewers describe the strength of this evidence as "moderate" (p. 1597), but they do not state which program components are most effective. On the basis of a very small number of studies (n=3), including two that were also reviewed in Van't Leven 2013 (57, 58), Zabalegui 2014 concludes that psychoeducational interventions for informal caregivers can improve caregiver burden symptoms.

Similar findings are reported by two of the three lower-quality reviews in our synthesis that looked specifically at psychoeducational interventions for caregivers (22, 29); the third (24) found that such interventions produced non-significant decreases in caregiver burden. Furthermore, our search of RCTs published after March 2014 revealed six studies of psychoeducational support interventions for caregivers; of these, four (62-65) reported significant improvement in caregiver burden scores and two (66, 67) did not. Significantly, the four successful interventions involved regular face-to-face contact with health professionals, whereas the remaining two assessed the effectiveness of a 20-page picture book and of telephone support, respectively.

To summarize, though the benefits of face-to-face educational programs for caregivers stand out most clearly, there is also considerable evidence to demonstrate the effectiveness of interventions involving different blends of educational and psychosocial components and different modes of delivery.

Interventions with suggestive evidence

Case Management

Dementia case management may be defined as "a collaborative intervention that involves assessment, planning, and advocacy for people with dementia and their caregivers" (68). One of the primary aims of case management is facilitating timely access to essential services, and its chief components are:

- standardized multidimensional assessment by health care professionals,
- individually-tailored care planning, and
- ongoing monitoring of plan implementation (9, 11).

There is **suggestive** evidence for the effectiveness of professionallydelivered dementia case management as a means for achieving short-term reductions in LTC placement. Case management targets both the care recipient and the family caregiver and can last for several years. The largest and highest-quality review in our synthesis on case management interventions, Tam-Tham 2013, included studies of 16 separate trials that assessed the effect of this intervention on LTC placement (69-84). Case managers in these studies were drawn from a variety of professional backgrounds, such as nursing, social work, psychology, and occupational therapy, and sometimes worked as members of a multidisciplinary team. Modes of delivery included home visits, telephone calls, or a combination of both. The reviewers found that

[T]here appeared to be a short-term effect in that dementia [case management] was associated with a significant reduction in LTC placement within the first 18 months following the intervention (9 p. 900).

This finding is based on a meta-analysis of the five included studies with a follow-up duration of less than 18 months (70, 77, 79, 83, 84; pooled risk ratio = 0.61, 95% CI 0.41 to 0.91, p=0.015). The reviewers offer alternative explanations for the apparently time-limited effect of case management interventions. They suggest that the benefits of case management may accrue mainly to the family caregiver, whereas the long-term effects on the care recipient's symptoms are minimal. Therefore, the lack of effect past 18 months may simply be attributable to the natural progression of the disease; that is to say that unchecked functional decline will at some point nullify the effects of any intervention for helping persons with dementia to avoid LTC. Alternatively, it may be that these interventions are

effective only while they are being offered, and post-intervention effects diminish rapidly. In the reviewers' judgment, the short-term effectiveness of case management indicates a need for "repeated dementia [case management] interventions that address the progression of symptoms in care receivers and the fading effect of a single-time intervention" (9, p. 901).

There were five other moderate-quality reviews (11, 17-20) in our synthesis and one lower-quality review (27) that evaluated the effect of case management on LTC placement. None of them reviewed as many case management studies or scored as high on the AMSTAR instrument as Tam-Tham 2012 and none included any relevant studies that were not found in Tam-Tham 2012. Our synthesis also included two RCTs of case management published after March 2014. Samus 2014 analyzed data on 188 persons with dementia and concluded that participants who received 18-month home-based coordination of their dementia care overseen by geriatric clinicians "had a significant delay in time to all-cause transition from home and the adjusted hazard of leaving the home was decreased by 37% (hazard ratio: 0.63, 95% Confidence Interval: 0.42 - 0.94) compared with control participants" (85, p. 398). Chodosh 2015 compared two modes of case management delivery: home visits supplemented with telephone calls as compared with telephone calls and mailings. These researchers did not observe any additional benefit from an approach that included in-person interactions (86).

In summary, there is suggestive evidence for the effectiveness of dementia case management as a means for achieving short-term delays in LTC placement.

Physical exercise

There were four systematic reviews of moderate quality that assessed the effect of physical exercise interventions, Burton 2015, Meyer 2013, Orgeta 2014, Pitkälä 2013a, though each used a different set of outcomes. We have grouped these reviews according to the outcomes they measured.

Physical function – Pitkälä 2013a examined ten randomized controlled studies of exercise interventions targeting home-dwelling adults with dementia. The studies covered a wide range of exercise interventions, including Tai-chi, stationary cycling, strength and balance training, and various forms of aerobic exercise. According to the reviewers, two studies were of high quality (78, 87), five were of moderate quality (88-92) and three were of poor quality (93-95). Though the heterogeneity in intervention duration, intensity, and type of exercise performed precluded meta-analysis, the reviewers found that "there is moderate grade of evidence that intense exercise (at least twice per week) for at least three months entailing several types of exercises may improve at least some dimensions of mobility or functional limitations among patients with dementia" (16, p. 92). This finding was corroborated by both of the high-quality studies they reviewed, as well as four of the five moderate-quality studies. Successful interventions involved exercise twice weekly for at least 30 minutes, usually with a progressive increase in intensity. Both individual and group exercise interventions yielded improvements in mobility and/or functionality.

Falls – Burton et al. reviewed four studies that examined home- and community-delivered exercise interventions designed to reduce falls or the risk of falls. The intervention group in the largest study, Pitkälä 2003b, received individually-tailored home-based exercise training provided by a physiotherapist with specialized dementia training. Exercises increased in intensity and dosage over time, and included stair-climbing, balance and transfer training, walking, dual tasking, and outdoor activities. Of the remaining studies, Mackintosh 2005 evaluated a multi-element intervention involving exercise, medication management, vision assessment, and walking aids; Wesson 2013 evaluated complex exercise programs focused on different muscle groups; and Suttanon 2013 examined the Otago exercise program, which includes strengthening exercises, standing balance exercises, and a walking program. The duration of interventions ranged from one session a week to five, for a duration of three to twelve

months. Only Pitkälä 2013b and Wesson 2013 supplied falls data that could be pooled. Pooled results from these two studies of home-based interventions showed that mean falls were significantly lower in the exercise group compared to the control group at the completion of the intervention, (standardized mean difference= -1.07, 95% CI = -1.78 to -0.36, p = .003), and participants' risk of falling was reduced by 32% (risk ratio = 0.68, 95% CI 0.55 to 0.85, p=0.01). With respect to the two studies whose results were not pooled, Suttanon 2013 found that risk of falling improved significantly among participants in the exercise intervention group, while Mackintosh (2005) reported no differences between groups at the pre-test and post-test assessments. Burton et al. note that the three RCTs included in the review (Pitkälä 2013b, Wesson 2013, Suttanon 2013) were of high quality, though Wesson 2013 and Suttanon 2013 were underpowered and

There is **suggestive** evidence for the effectiveness of exercise interventions as a means of reducing functional limitations, mobility problems, and falls among people with dementia; however, the effects of caregivertargeted exercise programs on caregiver burden is, as yet, uncertain.

had relatively short follow-up periods (≤ six months). Overall, Burton et al. conclude that exercise programs incorporating strength, balance, endurance, and progressively increasing intensity over time are likely to reduce falls among older people with dementia living in the community, although "there may need to be some modifications, such as those utilized by Suttanon et al. and Wesson et al. including engagement of carers, regular contact by physiotherapist, more detailed exercise history in order to tailor the exercises to participant preferences, and a greater choice of exercises" (10, p. 431). By contrast, an older and lower-quality review by Meyer et al. noted a "consistent nonsignificant trend toward a reduction in falls rates in intervention groups" (15, p. 14). However, only six of the eleven studies included in Meyer 2013 assessed exercise-based interventions, making it difficult to draw clear conclusions about the effectiveness of exercise in particular.

Caregiver Burden – Orgeta 2014 reviewed three studies that examined the impact of caregiver-targeted physical exercise programs on caregiver burden (96-98). All three evaluated low-to-moderate-intensity endurance training which consisted primarily of three to four 30-minute brisk walking sessions every week for a period of four to twelve months. Study authors used a variety of instruments to measure subjective caregiver burden, and the pooled results from these studies varied according to the

instrument used. Data gathered by Castro 2002 and King 1997 using the Screen for Caregiver Burden scale suggested a significant reduction in caregiver burden (standardized mean difference = -0.43, 95% CI -0.81 to -0.04, p=.03), whereas data gathered by Castro 2002 and Connell 2009 using separate instruments did not.¹ Based on these equivocal results, Orgeta et al. concluded that "physical activity may be of some benefit in terms of reducing caregiver burden for carers of people with dementia; however, further high-quality evidence is needed to reach a definitive conclusion," (7) p. 778).

In summary, there is suggestive evidence for the effectiveness of exercise interventions as a means of reducing functional limitations, mobility problems, and falls among people with dementia; however, the effects of caregiver-targeted exercise programs on caregiver burden are, as yet, uncertain. This finding is shared by McClaren 2013, a lower-quality review that included many of the same studies as Pitkälä 2013a; and by Holthoff 2015, the lone RCT in our synthesis published after March 2014 that examined an exercise intervention. Holthoff et al. conducted a small study (n = 27) of a home-based twelve-week physical activity training intervention and observed "transfer benefits to ADL, cognitive and physical skill in patients with AD" (99, p. 2).

Interventions targeting ADL performance

There were three moderate-quality reviews in our synthesis that evaluated the effect of interventions designed specifically to improve or preserve the ability of persons with dementia to perform Activities of Daily Living (ADL) – Carrion 2013, Olazarán 2010, and Van't Leven 2013. Each of these publications reviewed a different set of studies and interventions. Van't Leven et al. reviewed seven studies of short-term (i.e., one to six months) multi-component programs designed to encourage the independence of

There is **suggestive** evidence for the effectiveness of interventions targeting ADL performance, particularly when they involve face-to-face contact with health professionals. persons with dementia and their engagement in ADL. All interventions involved face-to-face contact between a care professional and the person with dementia. Five of these studies showed statistically significant positive effects on instrumental ADL performance (60, 61, 100-102) and two did not (58, 103). Of the five studies that demonstrated positive effects, four assessed programs that incorporated daily activity training for the person with dementia, personalized activity schedules, and environmental adaptations. According to these reviewers, "programs with intervention components that are related to... targeted functional

domains are promising, especially for the outcomes of ADL/IADL dependency and competence, adding to better quality of life for both [the caregiver and the care recipient]" (17) p. 1598). It should be noted, however, that Van't Leven et al. identified short follow-up periods as a limitation common to many of the studies in their review.

¹ As stated, Castro 2002 used the Screen for Caregiver Burden, and Connell 2009 used a modified version of the Revised Memory and Behavior Problem Checklist.

The other two moderate-quality reviews were inconclusive. Carrion 2013 examined a range of training exercises requiring the person with dementia to perform basic daily activities or other memory and perceptual tasks. Their review included four studies that measured ADL but none of them observed statistically significant effects. Olazarán et al. reviewed three studies of multicomponent interventions involving various forms of cognitive stimulation, and though these reviewers performed a meta-analysis that "indicated positive results" (20) p. 168) with respect to ADL, they unfortunately do not state whether they performed a test of significance. There were, in addition, two lower-quality reviews that assessed interventions targeted at ADL performance. McLaren 2013 reviewed seven RCTs of occupational therapy interventions, most of which were included in the review by Van't Leven et al., and likewise found that these interventions produced positive, significant increases in the abilities of care recipients. De Werd 2013 reviewed interventions based on "errorless learning," which the reviewers define as an instructional method involving "any combination of graded tasks where the task at hand is broken down into small steps, immediate error correction, encouraging participants not to guess, modeling the task steps, fading cues and prompts when steps are successfully performed (vanishing cues), or rehearsal of the retrieval of information that is taught with increasing time intervals (spaced retrieval)" (28, p. 1178). They report that 17 of the 26 studies in their review demonstrated statistically significant positive effects on task performance that persisted beyond one week and in some cases for several months.

Our search of RCTs published after March 2014 identified three studies of interventions targeting ADL performance. Brunelle-Hamann 2014 found that interventions that incorporate errorless learning had no significant effect on caregiver burden (104), though these researchers did note a significant difference in ADL performance between the treatment (n = 9) and control (n = 8) groups (105). Dopp 2014 did not observe any effect from a training package for community-based occupational therapists on ADL performance in persons with dementia (106). Muniz 2014 found that a three-year cognitive-motor stimulation program offered to non-institutionalized persons with dementia produced significant benefits in basic ADL at the second- and third-year assessments, and in instrumental ADL at the second-year assessment (107). Data from 68 participants were analyzed for this study.

In summary there is suggestive evidence for the effectiveness of interventions targeting ADL performance, particularly when they involve face-to-face contact with health professionals.

Interventions with insufficient evidence

Respite care

Respite care generally involves providing support or companionship to a care recipient so that the primary caregiver can have a break from her/his caregiving responsibilities. There was only one high quality systematic review in our synthesis on the effects of respite care, Maayan 2014, and it included four studies. Three of these studies involved a series of home visits of two to six hours in duration, staggered over a period of two to eight weeks. According to these reviewers:

Current evidence does not demonstrate any benefits or adverse effects from the use of respite care for people with dementia or their caregivers. These results should be treated with caution, however, as they may reflect the lack of high quality research in this area rather than an actual lack of benefit (5, p. 2).

The low-quality systematic review by Schoenmakers et al. pooled results from two studies on respite care, including one reviewed by Mayaan et al., and found that respite care was associated with *increased* burden:

Caregivers of patients, who were temporarily admitted to or scheduled for a day or night care center, reported an increase in burden.... Handing over a relative with dementia is not well accepted by family caregivers. Besides the concerns about the nursing quality, caregivers feel rather uncomfortable about the suddenly generated time off (24, p. 53).

Meditation

A low-quality systematic review by Hurley et al. addressed meditation for caregivers as a possible intervention for reducing their burden. Of the five studies included in this review, only three found that meditation significantly reduced burden. Though these reviewers offered cautious support for meditation as a potential intervention, they recognized that sampling bias may have affected results and that the overall literature on the topic was poor.

Interventions that Target Urinary Incontinence

A moderate quality review by Drennan et al. evaluated interventions that targeted urinary incontinence. Unfortunately, only three studies were included in this review and each used markedly different approaches to reducing urinary incontinence. Results from these studies were found to be largely nonsignificant.

Summary of Review Evidence

Our synthesis indicates that evidence for the effectiveness of psychoeducational support interventions is promising, particularly when delivered in face-to-face formats. In addition, there is suggestive evidence for the effectiveness of case management, physical exercise, and interventions targeting ADL performance. By contrast, there is as yet insufficient evidence to support the effectiveness of respite care, meditation for caregivers, and interventions for preventing urinary incontinence (Table 3). In the next section, we examine the implications of these findings for healthcare in Newfoundland and Labrador.

Evidence for effectiveness	Criteria	Interventions in this category
PROMISING	Evidence for the effectiveness of the intervention is provided in one or more high-quality reviews (i.e., AMSTAR score \geq 66.7%) encompassing 5 or more different primary studies	 Psychoeducational support interventions for caregivers
SUGGESTIVE	There is partial or qualified evidence to demonstrate the effectiveness of the intervention, derived from one or more moderate-to-high quality reviews (i.e., AMSTAR score ≥ 33.3%) encompassing more than 1 primary study	 Case management Physical exercise Interventions targeting ADL performance
INSUFFICIENT AT PRESENT	Either there is no moderate-to-high quality review evidence to demonstrate the effectiveness of the intervention, or the combined reviews include only one primary study, or no primary studies on this intervention.	 Respite care Meditation (for caregivers) Interventions for preventing urinary incontinence

Table 3: Evidence Categories, Criteria and Interventions in Each Category

The Newfoundland and Labrador Context



Throughout the course of this project, we have tried to identify contextual factors unique to Newfoundland and Labrador that may influence the relevance and applicability of the research-based evidence. This section of the report addresses those contextual factors and is based primarily on consultations with key informants.

Contextualization Approach

Our contextual analysis relied heavily on the input of our project team members. In assembling the team, we deliberately sought out persons with both extensive professional experience in this subject area and practical knowledge of the province's healthcare system. Team members helped us to identify key informants, participated in interviews themselves, and/or supplied relevant documents and sources of data. Our group of key informants included director-level and front-line personnel from a range of organizations that provide services to seniors and others with dementia. In total, we interviewed nine people, including at least one representative from each of the province's four RHAs. We decided to stop the interviews at nine because new interviews were yielding little in the way of additional information.

Client Base

Population aging is now a defining demographic trend throughout Canada and most other industrialized countries, but it is especially pronounced in Newfoundland and Labrador. This province already has the

highest median age in the country (44.2) and the fourth highest proportion of residents aged \geq 65 years (17.1). Moreover, according to all of the various population projection scenarios developed by Statistics Canada, the median age in Newfoundland and Labrador is projected to increase to between 50.7 years and 54.5 years in 2038, at which time it will be the highest in the country (108). Likewise, the proportion of the population aged \geq 65 years will reach between 31.6% and 35.9%, still higher than any other province or territory. As the proportion of older persons rises, so too will the incidence and prevalence of dementia. In a landmark

The median age in Newfoundland and Labrador is projected to increase to between 50.7 years and 54.5 years in 2038, at which time it will be the highest in the country.

report entitled *Rising Tide: The Impact of Dementia on Canadian Society*, the Alzheimer Society of Canada estimated that in 2038 there will be 257,811 new cases of dementia among Canadians aged \geq 65 years, 2.5 times the number of new cases in 2008 and "the number of Canadians (of all ages) with dementia will increase to 2.3 times the 2008 level, i.e., to 1.1 million people, representing 2.8% of the Canadian population" (109, pp. 16-7). Though the Alzheimer Society does not have precise provincelevel data for Newfoundland and Labrador, the executive director of the Society's provincial chapter has recently stated in a CBC news article that "there are currently over 8,600 people affected by the disease in the province [and] we are looking at double the number in 15 years" (110). In many of the rural areas of the province, the effects of population aging have been compounded by outmigration of working-age residents. Between 1991 and 2007, the population of the St. John's Census Metropolitan Area grew by about 8,600 while the population of the rest of the province declined by around 82,000. Population decline has been particularly marked on the island in rural outport communities (111). A 2010 qualitative case study of one rural community on the southern part of the Avalon Peninsula gives some indication as to how rural seniors have been affected by this shrinking of the working-age population. Outmigration had indeed removed from this community a number of people who might otherwise have provided informal care to elderly relatives. Nevertheless, many of the older residents who remained were confident in their ability to age in place, and insisted that there was a strong culture of helping in the community. Younger seniors, in particular, have increasingly taken on the responsibility of looking after older family members, friends, and neighbours. However, even these younger seniors described their ability to age in place as tenuous and dependent on the continued availability of local services. Furthermore, the more isolated older residents, those who, for one reason or another, had fewer sources of support, were particularly vulnerable. Overall, the study seems to suggest that the effects of outmigration are quite complex and will vary from community to community and from person to person; some older adults will fill the gaps by drawing on the support of friends and

...the effects of outmigration are quite complex and will vary from community to community and from person to person; some older adults will fill the gaps by drawing on the support of friends and neighbours, and some will prove more vulnerable to the loss of informal sources of support. neighbours, and some will prove more vulnerable to the loss of informal sources of support (112).

Labrador constitutes something of an exception to these trends. According to the Community Accounts Unit of the Newfoundland and Labrador Statistics Agency, roughly 8% of Labrador residents were aged \geq 65 years in 2011 compared to 16% in the province as a whole (113). As well, the total birth rate² for Labrador in 2013 was significantly higher than that of the province as a whole, 14.9 compared to 8.9 (114). The relative youthfulness of Labrador's population is partly attributable to the presence of major resource and construction projects, which tend to attract working-age persons and young families in search of highpaying jobs, and partly attributable to its high concentration

of aboriginal peoples, who generally have higher fertility levels than the rest of the population. Roughly one quarter of the total population of Labrador is Innu or Inuit. In addition to the services provided by the Labrador-Grenfell Regional Health Authority, both groups receive additional health benefits from the organizations that represent them: the Innu Nation and the Nunatsiavut government. In fact, participants in a 2012 qualitative study of health services in Happy Valley-Goose Bay and the Nunatsiavut region suggested that "Labradorians limited to Medical Care Plan coverage faced the most significant financial barriers to accessing provincially insured and uninsured health care services" (115, p. 12). Moreover, one of our key informants suggested to us that Innu and Inuit Labradorians with

² Total birth rate is the ratio of live births to the population expressed per 1,000.

dementia may benefit from the extended family structures that are common among many aboriginal groups. A recent Statistics Canada report revealed that aboriginal Canadians aged \geq 45 years were almost three times more likely than their non-aboriginal counterparts to live in shared homes with their grandchildren, and two-thirds of these co-resident aboriginal grandparents also shared a household with middle-generation parents (116). These extended family structures may represent a source of informal caregiving support for persons with dementia – though they may also entail unique forms of stress for the other household residents.

Service Landscape

Community-dwellers with dementia in Newfoundland and Labrador can avail themselves of a network of provincial and regional-level services designed to support their independence. These services are crucial

to the success of any interventions for helping people with dementia to improve or maintain their quality of life, physical functioning, mobility, and ADL performance. In order to engage in these interventions safely and effectively, people with dementia must have access to safe, functional built environments; timely assistance with basic personal care; appropriate professional guidance; and, in some cases, supportive aids and equipment. Services are also needed by family caregivers who, as the evidence demonstrates, report significantly lower levels of burden when they can draw upon different types of practical and psychological support. Below we examine the provincial and regional services available to people with dementia and their caregivers.

Provincial Home Support Program and Special Assistance Program

The DHCS-funded Home Support Program (HSP) subsidizes the

Community-dwellers with dementia in Newfoundland and Labrador can avail themselves of a network of provincial and regional-level services designed to support their independence. These services are crucial to the success of any interventions for helping people with dementia to improve or maintain their quality of life, physical functioning, mobility, and ADL performance.

purchase of home support services from provincially regulated private-sector agencies or from individual workers hired directly by clients. To access publicly-funded home support services, persons with dementia must first be assessed by RHA personnel to determine whether they:

- a) require long-term assistance with daily living,
- b) live in their own private residence, and
- c) have liquid assets below the allowable level for the program \$10,000 for single people and \$20,000 for couples (117).

Services provided through the home support program typically include assistance with personal care, household management, and caregiver respite. In addition, workers can also be trained by community health nurses to perform selected nursing tasks. The purpose of the program is to "supplement, not replace, service provided by the individual's family and/or support network" (118), with the overall aim of helping people to remain living in their own homes.

The DHCS also funds the Special Assistance Program (SAP), which subsidizes the purchase of basic supportive health products and equipment for persons who require them for ADL. As with the HSP, eligibility criteria relate to an applicant's functional capabilities, and the two programs use a similar financial assessment process to determine applicants' financial eligibility. Under the SAP, singles with greater than \$3,000 and couples with greater than \$5,500 in liquid assets are ineligible for subsidies (117). The program covers non-specialized supplies like catheters, incontinence aids, hospital beds, pressure-relieving mattresses, commodes, wheelchairs, and walkers. Our informants generally seemed to feel that the SAP is well-run and helpful, though informants in regions outside of the Eastern Health region pointed out that the equipment and supplies made available through the program must be sourced from St. John's and then shipped to destination communities. Receipt of equipment and supplies is therefore often delayed, and this can create particular problems for clients who have been discharged from acute care and who require specialized equipment to transition safely back to their home environment. One informant also told us that equipment requiring assembly can often pose challenges for clients in areas where there are few available community-based healthcare providers.

Recognizing the growing need for these programs, in 2012 the DHCS released *Close to Home: A Strategy for Long-Term Care and Community Support Services*, wherein it described its approach to helping individuals with long-term care and community support needs achieve optimal independence and quality of life. The Department also detailed the various new investments it had made to the programs over the previous six years. Among them were:

- \$60.8 million to increase the home support hourly subsidy rate from \$8.04 per hour to \$12.25 an hour;
- \$48.1 million to accommodate growth in the HSP;
- \$1.25 million in changes to SAP eligibility criteria, which made the program accessible to a greater number of people; and
- \$13.1 million in changes to the home support benefit ceilings and the financial assessment process for both programs, which made subsidies available for more clients (119).

In the most recent budget year, the government announced approximately \$180 million in funding for the HSP, "representing an increase of over \$6 million from last year's program that provided support to about 9,000 seniors" (120). Some of our informants observed that client access to these programs has improved significantly as a result of the various changes described above.

Notwithstanding these investments, our key informants noted that there is a significant amount of unmet demand in the province for home care. The current HSP subsidy rate for workers hired directly by clients to provide assistance with basic personal care is \$12.50 an hour, though the program provides a small amount of additional money on a bi-weekly basis to help clients with bookkeeper fees (117). Workers hired through an agency are subsidized at a rate of \$18.40 an hour. But because agencies manage payment of the workers, the client does not receive the extra money for assistance with bookkeepers' fees. Our informants noted that there is a chronic shortage of home support workers and

high turnover in the industry, indicating that these rates may not be sufficient to attract a stable, committed workforce. Home care agencies find it particularly difficult to recruit workers in rural areas, where outmigration has reduced the size of the working-age population. The problem was noted as being especially acute in areas where resource or construction projects like the Muskrat Falls generating facility have created better-paying employment opportunities for workers with entry-level qualifications.

In general, there seems to be a commonly-held yet profoundly mistaken perception that the provision of personal care for persons with dementia constitutes unskilled labour. Our informants rejected this perception and unanimously attested to a pressing need for upskilling within the province's home support workforce. Furthermore, although the Provincial Home Support Program Operational Standards encourage the hiring of trained workers, there is no standardized dementia-care training required for people who provide home support, and the overhead costs involved in providing training are generally higher than what home care agencies are willing to spend. Consequently, home support workers often have little understanding of their clients' special care needs and, in particular, of the importance of sensitivity to clients' preferences and of encouraging independence. Without the skills required to effectively manage the behavioral symptoms of the disease, home support workers are often burnt out by the demands of the job, particularly as their clients approach the more severe end of the dementia spectrum. The upshot is that clients who are eligible for HSP subsidies are often unable to find a worker who is willing and able to do the work. In general, there seems to

be a commonly-held yet profoundly mistaken perception that the provision of personal care for persons with dementia constitutes unskilled labour. Our informants rejected this perception and unanimously attested to a pressing need for upskilling within the province's home support workforce.

Moreover, the maximum HSP subsidy obtainable for persons over 65 is \$2,870 per month (117), which averages out to approximately seven hours a day for clients who hire workers directly, and five hours a day for clients who hire through an agency. Our informants felt that certain clients' needs can readily exceed these amounts. Though people with dementia living in the community generally do not need 24-hour, seven-day-a-week supportive care, many do need assistance at particular times of day, such as early morning, mealtimes, and when retiring for the evening, and some require supervision to prevent elopement. In general, clients who are unable to access the number of home care hours they need often have no other choice than to rely on family members, thus increasing caregiver strain and the likelihood of LTC placement.

Day programs

Well-designed day programs in safe, controlled settings can create opportunities for persons with dementia to engage in the kinds of recreational activities and exercise that have been shown to improve physical functioning and ADL performance, and provide opportunities for social engagement.

Moreover, they also enable family members to take a break from caregiving activities and attend to their own needs. Indeed, a number of our informants pointed out that one of the main barriers preventing family members from accessing support was their inability to take time away from caregiving responsibilities. There was broad consensus among our informants that the general lack of day programs designed specifically for Newfoundlanders and Labradorians with early-stage dementia constitutes a major barrier to their continued independence. At the time of writing, we were able to identify only a small number of available day programs, and very few of them offered therapeutic or

personal care services. An exception was the day program offered at Saint Luke's Homes in St. John's, which runs from 9:00am to 4:30pm on Tuesdays and Thursdays and has 20 available spaces for persons aged \geq 60 years with dementia who are at risk of elopement.³ The program is staffed by a program coordinator, a nurse, and a bus driver, and it also utilizes the various professional services of Saint Luke's Homes, including physiotherapy, occupational therapy, and dietetics, though these latter two services are only offered on an emergency basis. In addition to recreational activities such as community outings, fitness classes, crafts, bingo, and cards, clients can also get assistance with personal care tasks like hair styling or bathing. At the same time, the program creates

There was broad consensus among our informants that the general lack of day programs designed specifically for Newfoundlanders and Labradorians with earlystage dementia constitutes a major barrier to their continued independence.

opportunities for professional assessment and interactions with health care providers that might not otherwise occur. There are a handful of similar programs scattered throughout the province: Western Health offers adult day support programs at Bay St. George Long-Term Care in Stephenville Crossing and at the Charles Legrow Health Center in Port Aux Basques, but few provincial day programs offer the same range of resources as Saint Luke's Homes. As can be imagined, the wait lists for placement within these programs are quite long.

The Life Unlimited for Older Adults (LUFOA) committee in Springdale provides an example of how smaller communities can mobilize volunteers to deliver cost-effective day programming in the absence of the kind of institutional resources found in larger urban centres. By partnering with Central Health and the town of Springdale, LUFOA volunteers have been able to offer a range of services designed to promote active living and to decrease isolation among older area residents (121). These include friendly visiting, fitness sessions, a community kitchen, and a variety of intergenerational activities. LUFOA also recently received funding to expand its Care-2-Ride transportation service to the area surrounding Springdale. As successful as the committee's work has been, like most other volunteer organizations it must perennially contend with the twin challenges of fundraising and volunteer burnout. Moreover, its very success calls attention to the benefits that seniors in other parts of the province might derive from similar programming.

³ St. Luke's Homes also run a day program on Mondays, Wednesday, and Fridays which is open to all seniors. Though a number of clients in this program have mild dementia, the program is not specifically designed for this population.

Programs and services delivered by non-profit and community organizations

The principal non-profit service provider for people with dementia in this province is the Newfoundland and Labrador chapter of the Alzheimer Society. The Alzheimer Society offers two closely-related services that are particularly important to the independence of persons with dementia: First Link and the Learning Series. First Link partners with local referring physicians to identify persons newly diagnosed with dementia in order to help them navigate the web of available services. The program also provides regular monthly follow-up. Prior to its launch in Ottawa in 2009, people with dementia and their families tended to make contact with the Society only after they were already in crisis. First Link was thus designed to intervene as soon after diagnosis as possible, at a point when clients and their families could contemplate the full range of service options under relatively less challenging circumstances. The program has since spread to nine of ten provinces including Newfoundland and Labrador, where it strives to fill a critical service gap identified by a number of our key informants: health system navigation and follow-up. Many of the problems and difficulties encountered by people with dementia and their families are not medical in nature; rather, they are behavioural and logistical. Once diagnosed, persons with dementia often do not receive follow-up care from their family doctor or other healthcare personnel unless they have a medical issue. In the absence of a formal, province-wide system of case management specifically for persons with dementia living outside of LTC, First Link has taken on the responsibility of helping this population access essential services. Though the reaction from clients and families has been positive, the provincial chapter of the Alzheimer Society employs only one paid *First Link* coordinator and relies heavily on volunteers to deliver the program. It does not currently have the capacity to meet the anticipated future demand for the service, and will require additional funding in order to expand.

First Link also connects clients and their families with *the Learning Series* program, a free series of courses that provides participants with a comprehensive overview of dementia, a set of coping strategies, and information about available resources and supports. *The Learning Series* is offered three times a year, and sessions are generally delivered by volunteers. Client feedback on *the Learning Series* has been positive, though completion rates remain low because many participants join at a relatively late stage in the progression of their disease, which provides further impetus for the Alzheimer Society to try to reach people soon after diagnosis. As with the *First Link* Program, *the Learning Series* will require additional resources in order to meet the anticipated future demand for dementia caregiver supports here in the province.

There are two other non-profit service providers of note: the Seniors Resource Centre (SRC) and the Red Cross. The SRC is a charitable, voluntary organization that promotes the independence and well-being of older adults in Newfoundland and Labrador. It offers a range of programs and services including a toll-free information line, volunteer peer support, and planned social activities. Of particular interest to families of seniors with dementia is the SRC's *Caregivers Out of Isolation* program, which began in 2000. The program's founding objectives were to identify the needs of family caregivers, connect them to information and other resources, and stimulate support for caregivers through community volunteer groups and formal caregiver systems. To this end, it established a toll-free Caregiver Line, published a

27

newsletter, and conducted a province-wide needs assessment. On the basis of the needs assessment, the SRC concluded that "there were minimal resources available for family caregivers in Newfoundland and Labrador, especially in rural communities" (122). Since then, *Caregivers Out of Isolation* has facilitated the development of Regional Caregiver Networks based in various communities throughout the province.

The Canadian Red Cross offers the *Health Equipment Loan Program (HELP)*, which lends health-related equipment to eligible residents of Newfoundland and Labrador for a period of three months, typically while they are waiting to access similar equipment under the SAP. The Red Cross also offers a volunteer-based ride service for clients in the St. John's area who lack access to affordable transportation. For a nominal fee, the ride service provides transportation to banking and medical appointments.

Home Modification Program

Newfoundland and Labrador Housing offers a Home Modification Program (HMP) for homeowners with income less than \$46,500 per year who require changes to their homes to enhance accessibility. These changes include ramps, grab bars, widening of door frames, and lowering of surfaces. Funding for modifications is provided through grants of up to \$7,500 and repayable loans of up to \$10,000 (\$13,000 in Labrador). However, persons who are *renting* homes are not eligible for this service, and homeowners must have owned their homes for at least five years to be eligible. The Newfoundland and Labrador Housing Home Modification Program is available province-wide.

Residential alternatives for persons requiring level one or two care

In Newfoundland and Labrador, LTC homes are accredited public facilities that are funded by the DHCS and operated by their respective RHAs (123). As stated earlier, LTC facilities offer care and accommodations to people who require level three care or higher, whereas residential care for persons requiring level one or two care (i.e., assistance with daily living and the occasional services of a visiting professional) is for the most part only available from private, for-profit personal care homes and assisted-living facilities. Personal care homes are licensed and monitored by their respective RHAs to ensure they are complying with the Health and Community Services Act, the Personal Care Home Regulations, and any other relevant policies and standards (124). Though neither the DHCS nor the RHAs play a direct role in the funding or operation of personal care homes, public subsidies are available to persons deemed eligible by their RHA on the basis of a financial assessment. As with the HSP, only persons with liquid assets below the allowable level, \$10,000 for single people and \$20,000 for couples, are eligible for a personal care home subsidy.

The scholarly evidence we identified through our literature search is primarily concerned with interventions for people who are still living in their own homes; therefore, personal care homes, assisted living facilities, and other such residential alternatives to LTC do not constitute a major focus of this report. Nevertheless, a number of our informants felt there is a need in the province for a more affordable range of residential care options for persons who have been diagnosed with dementia but who do not require level three care or higher. Protective Community Residences represent one such

option. Like LTC homes, Protective Community Residences, or Dementia Care Bungalows, as they are also known, are public facilities funded by the DHCS and operated by RHAs. The Bungalows offer enhanced assisted living within a smaller, more home-like, and less structured living environment with built-in safeguards against wandering. Bungalows can accommodate up to ten or twelve residents, each with a private room. Each Bungalow employs a case coordinator who facilitates the admissions process, provides ongoing physical and psychosocial support, liaises with other health professionals to ensure the residents' care needs are met, and monitors the performance of unregulated staff. Special care workers provide assistance with ADL and personal care throughout the day and overnight. The core Bungalow

Protective Community Residences, or Dementia Care Bungalows, as they are also known, are public facilities....[that] offer enhanced assisted living within a smaller, more home-like, and less structured living environment with built-in safeguards against wandering. Bungalows can accommodate up to ten or twelve residents, each with a private room. staff also includes a social worker, a visiting physician, and a recreation therapist/worker. Currently, Bonavista, Lewisporte, and Corner Brook are the only communities in the province with Protective Community Residences, though one is currently being constructed in Clarenville (125).

System Navigation and the Service Landscape

Our evidence synthesis indicates that dementia case management may be an effective means for preventing or delaying placements into long-term care, at least over the short-term. Indeed, a province-wide system of case management specifically for persons with dementia living outside of LTC might well redress one of the most pressing needs identified by our key informants: health system navigation. We heard from our key informants that there is a general lack of awareness among persons diagnosed with dementia and their family caregivers about the various services and programs that might benefit them. If clients do become aware of available services, there is often a forbidding maze of paperwork they must navigate in order to determine their eligibility. We heard that there is often a general lack of communication between different sectors,

professional groups, and program areas within the health care system, and that this often compels clients and their families to serve as their own case managers. As we have seen, the provincial government and the RHAs have invested a great deal of money and energy into a whole range of community support services, but maximizing the benefits to people with dementia would require some additional capacity in the area of system navigation. For example, Western Health has recently created a navigator position to help new and existing clients of the Community Support Program with the financial assessment process. In the absence of this kind of enhanced navigation capacity, some of the types of interventions found to be promising or suggestive may not achieve maximum effectiveness.

Human Resources

The ability to provide quality services for community-dwelling persons with dementia rests largely on the availability of professionally-trained workers. Allied health workers,⁴ in particular, have critical roles to play in the post-diagnostic support of such persons. In Newfoundland and Labrador, their primary responsibilities involve determining clients' eligibility for publicly-funded programs like the HSP and helping them access these programs. In other jurisdictions they run support groups and 'dementia cafés'; develop exercise programs tailored to the special needs of persons with mental health or neurological conditions; organize cognitive stimulation therapy sessions designed to 're-able' clients for

the tasks of everyday life; assess clients' dietary regimes to ensure they are getting adequate nutrition; participate in multidisciplinary community outreach teams; and serve as dementia case managers, coordinating the full range of social and health care services required to help clients live independently (126-128).

Our informants expressed great enthusiasm for the potential impacts that community-based allied health workers can have on the lives of persons with dementia, but most felt that additional human resources are needed to realize this potential. The present size of the community-based allied health workforce may enable delivery of the core services enumerated above, but there is little capacity to offer anything more. In many regions, there are lengthy Our informants expressed great enthusiasm for the potential impacts that community-based allied health workers can have on the lives of persons with dementia, but most felt that additional human resources are needed to realize this potential.

wait lists for initial assessment and very minimal intervention and follow-up. The charts below provide CIHI data about the physiotherapist and occupational therapist workforces in each province by place of employment in 2012, the most recent year for which such data are available. It should be noted here that these data do not distinguish between full-time employees and part-time, temporary, or casual employees. Nevertheless, they show that the numbers of physiotherapists and occupational therapists per 100,000 people are lower in Newfoundland and Labrador (44 and 35, respectively) than in the country as a whole (53 and 40, respectively). Perhaps more significantly, this province has a smaller proportion of *community-based* physiotherapists and occupational therapists than most other provinces.⁵ Though the degree of emphasis on this point varied, our key informants generally agreed that there is a need in this province to expand access to a whole range of community-based services, including physiotherapy, occupational therapy, and dietetics.

⁴ In Newfoundland and Labrador allied health workers are represented by the Association of Allied Health Professionals, and include physiotherapists, occupational therapists, social workers, dietitians, pharmacists, speech language pathologists, and psychologists, among others.

⁵ The suppression of digits in Table 4 makes the table somewhat difficult to interpret, but the reader will note that 52.2% of physiotherapists in Newfoundland and Labrador are based in hospitals and 42.9% are employed in private professional practice, leaving less than 5% for *both* the "Community" and "Other" categories.

	Hospital		Community		Prof. Practice		Other		Unknown		Total
	Count	%	Count	%	Count	%	Count	%	Count	%	
<u>N.L.</u>	118	52.2	*	*	97	42.9	*	*	0	0.0	226
<u>P.E.I.</u>	36	48.0	*	*	29	38.7	*	*	1	1.3	75
<u>N.S.</u>	221	37.8	44	7.5	223	38.2	41	7.0	55	9.4	584
<u>N.B.</u>	223	47.1	71	15.0	164	34.7	13	2.7	2	0.4	473
Que.	2,168	53.2	58	1.4	1,638	40.2	207	5.1	8	0.2	4,079
<u>Ont.</u>	2,897	44.2	916	14.0	1,335	20.4	1,275	19.5	127	1.9	6,550
Man.	270	37.3	89	12.3	279	38.5	73	10.1	13	1.8	724
<u>Sask.</u>	278	45.5	71	11.6	217	35.5	40	6.5	5	0.8	611
<u>Alta.</u>	699	32.0	327	15.0	995	45.6	109	5.0	51	2.3	2,181
<u>B.C.</u>	836	28.5	281	9.6	1,318	45.0	464	15.8	32	1.1	2,931
<u>Y.T.</u>	8	22.9	6	17.1	13	37.1	8	22.9	0	0.0	35
Total	7,754	42.0	1,875	10.2	6,308	34.2	2,238	12.1	294	1.6	18,469

Table 4: Physiotherapists by Primary Place of Employment and Province/Territory ofRegistration, 20126

Table 5: Occupational Therapists by Primary Place of Employment and Province/Territoryof Registration, 2012

	Hospital		Community		Prof. Practice		Other		Unknown		Total
	Count	%	Count	%	Count	%	Count	%	Count	%	
<u>N.L.</u>	103	56.6	37	20.3	26	14.3	16	8.8	0	0.0	182
<u>P.E.I.</u>	25	52.1	1*	*	*	*	*	*	0	0.0	48
<u>N.S.</u>	248	60.3	43	10.5	49	11.9	71	17.3	0	0.0	411
<u>N.B.</u>	162	50.9	120	37.7	22	6.9	14	4.4	0	0.0	318
Que.	1,883	48.3	1,062	27.2	429	11.0	186	4.8	338	8.7	3,898
<u>Ont.</u>	2,095	46.1	1,477	32.5	504	11.1	466	10.3	3	0.1	4,545
Man.	281	49.1	131	22.9	46	8.0	95	16.6	19	3.3	572
Sask.	167	53.5	72	23.1	35	11.2	30	9.6	8	2.6	312
<u>Alta.</u>	711	41.9	632	37.2	121	7.1	233	13.7	0	0.0	1,697
<u>B.C.</u>	746	41.1	586	32.3	290	16.0	181	10.0	14	0.8	1,817
Terr.	23	76.7	*	*	*	*	*	*	0	0.0	30
Total	6,444	46.6	4,175	30.2	1,526	11.0	1,303	9.4	382	2.8	13,830

⁶ Source for Tables 4 and 5: Physiotherapist Database & Occupational Therapist Database, CIHI.

Notes: '*' means that the digit has been suppressed in accordance with CIHI's privacy policy; this digit is from 0-9.

CIHI data may differ from provincial and territorial data as a result of CIHI's collection, processing, and reporting methodologies.

[&]quot;Primary employment" is the employment, with an employer or in a self-employed arrangement, that is associated with the highest number of usual weekly hours worked.

[&]quot;Community" includes residential care facilities, assisted-living residences, community health centres, visiting agencies/businesses, and schools or school boards.

[&]quot;Professional practice" includes group and solo practices/clinics.

[&]quot;Other" includes post-secondary educational institutions, government, industry, manufacturing and commercial, and other employer types not otherwise specified.

Considerations for Decision Makers



The considerations we have listed below are based on the synthesis findings as refracted through the professional perspectives of the clinicians, administrators, and decision makers on the project team. Given the nature of our methodology and the limitations of the evidence available for our synthesis, we cannot firmly endorse any particular programs, services, or interventions. Instead, readers should regard the items that follow as considerations that decision makers may wish to bear in mind as they contemplate the local

relevance and applicability of the research-based evidence synthesized in the first part of this report.

- 1. Persons with dementia in Newfoundland and Labrador often try to access services only when they are already in crisis, at which point the range of viable service options may be limited; therefore, decision makers should consider prioritizing early identification and outreach.
- 2. Persons with dementia and their families often struggle with navigating our provincial health system, identifying and applying for available services, and accessing follow-up care; therefore, building capacity for supporting these tasks should be considered.
- 3. Chronic shortages of qualified, committed home-support workers are a serious impediment to the Home Support Program's goal of supplementing family and other support networks, especially in rural areas that have been affected by outmigration.
- 4. The lack of standardized dementia-care training for people who provide home support can compromise the ability of such workers to meet their clients' special care needs and to manage the behavioural and psychological symptoms of the disease.
- 5. Expanding the number of dementia-friendly day programs would not only provide family caregivers with a much-needed support, but would also create opportunities for persons with dementia to connect with health professionals and engage in the kinds of therapeutic activities and exercises that have been shown to improve physical functioning and ADL performance.
- 6. Persons with dementia living outside of LTC need a wider range of affordable residential care options, such as the Protective Community Residences in Corner Brook, Lewisporte, and Bonavista.
- 7. Increasing the potential impacts that community-based allied health workers can have on the lives of persons with dementia and their families may require additional investment in these human resources.

References

- (1) Canadian Institute for Health Information. Standards for Management Information Systems in Canadian Health Service Organizations. 2011.
- (2) Shea BJ, Hamel C, Wells GA, Bouter LM, Kristjansson E, Grimshaw J, et al. AMSTAR is a reliable and valid measurement tool to assess the methodological quality of systematic reviews. J Clin Epidemiol 2009 Oct;62(10):1013-1020. DOI: 10.1016/j.jclinepi.2008.10.009.
- (3) Lins S, Hayder-Beichel D, Rucker G, Motschall E, Antes G, Meyer G, et al. Efficacy and experiences of telephone counselling for informal carers of people with dementia. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 2014 Sep 1;9:CD009126. DOI: 10.1002/14651858.CD009126.pub2; 10.1002/14651858.CD009126.pub2.
- (4) Jensen M, Agbata IN, Canavan M, McCarthy G. Effectiveness of educational interventions for informal caregivers of individuals with dementia residing in the community: systematic review and meta-analysis of randomised controlled trials. Int J Geriatr Psychiatry 2014 Oct 29. DOI: 10.1002/gps.4208; 10.1002/gps.4208.
- (5) Maayan N, Soares-Weiser K, Lee H. Respite care for people with dementia and their carers. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 2014 Jan 16;1:CD004396. DOI: 10.1002/14651858.CD004396.pub3; 10.1002/14651858.CD004396.pub3.
- (6) Vernooij-Dassen M, Draskovic I, McCleery J, Downs M. Cognitive reframing for carers of people with dementia. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 2011 11(11).
- (7) Orgeta V, Miranda-Castillo C. Does physical activity reduce burden in carers of people with dementia? A literature review. Int J Geriatr Psychiatry 2014 Aug;29(8):771-783.
- (8) Carrion C, Aymerich M, Bailles E, Lopez-Bermejo A. Cognitive psychosocial intervention in dementia: a systematic review. Dement Geriatr Cogn Disord 2013;36(5-6):363-375. DOI: 10.1159/000354365; 10.1159/000354365.
- (9) Tam-Tham H, Cepoiu-Martin M, Ronksley PE, Maxwell CJ, Hemmelgarn BR. Dementia case management and risk of long-term care placement: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Int J Geriatr Psychiatry 2013 Sep;28(9):889-902. DOI: 10.1002/gps.3906; 10.1002/gps.3906.
- (10) Burton E, Cavalheri V, Adams R, Browne CO, Bovery-Spencer P, Fenton AM, et al. Effectiveness of exercise programs to reduce falls in older people with dementia living in the community: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Clin Interv Aging 2015 Feb 9;10:421-434. DOI: 10.2147/CIA.S71691; 10.2147/CIA.S71691.
- (11) Somme D, Trouve H, Drame M, Gagnon D, Couturier Y, Saint-Jean O. Analysis of case management programs for patients with dementia: a systematic review. Alzheimers Dement 2012 Sep;8(5):426-436. DOI: 10.1016/j.jalz.2011.06.004; 10.1016/j.jalz.2011.06.004.

- (12) Drennan VM, Greenwood N, Cole L, Fader M, Grant R, Rait G, et al. Conservative interventions for incontinence in people with dementia or cognitive impairment, living at home: a systematic review.
 BMC Geriatr 2012 Dec 28;12:77-2318-12-77. DOI: 10.1186/1471-2318-12-77; 10.1186/1471-2318-12-77.
- (13) Boots LM, de Vugt ME, van Knippenberg RJ, Kempen GI, Verhey FR. A systematic review of Internet-based supportive interventions for caregivers of patients with dementia. Int J Geriatr Psychiatry 2014 Apr;29(4):331-344. DOI: 10.1002/gps.4016; 10.1002/gps.4016.
- (14) McKechnie V, Barker C, Stott J. Effectiveness of computer-mediated interventions for informal carers of people with dementia-a systematic review. Int Psychogeriatr 2014 Oct;26(10):1619-1637. DOI: 10.1017/S1041610214001045; 10.1017/S1041610214001045.
- (15) Meyer C, Hill S, Dow B, Synnot A, Hill K. Translating Falls Prevention Knowledge to Community-Dwelling Older PLWD: A Mixed-Method Systematic Review. Gerontologist 2013 Nov 11. DOI: 10.1093/geront/gnt127.
- (16) Pitkala K, Savikko N, Poysti M, Strandberg T, Laakkonen ML. Efficacy of physical exercise intervention on mobility and physical functioning in older people with dementia: a systematic review. Exp Gerontol 2013a Jan;48(1):85-93. DOI: 10.1016/j.exger.2012.08.008; 10.1016/j.exger.2012.08.008.
- (17) Van't Leven N, Prick AE, Groenewoud JG, Roelofs PD, de Lange J, Pot AM. Dyadic interventions for community-dwelling people with dementia and their family caregivers: a systematic review. Int Psychogeriatr 2013 Oct;25(10):1581-1603. DOI: 10.1017/S1041610213000860; 10.1017/S1041610213000860.
- (18) Zabalegui A, Hamers JP, Karlsson S, Leino-Kilpi H, Renom-Guiteras A, Saks K, et al. Best practices interventions to improve quality of care of people with dementia living at home. Patient Educ Couns 2014 May;95(2):175-184. DOI: 10.1016/j.pec.2014.01.009; 10.1016/j.pec.2014.01.009.
- (19) Corbett A, Stevens J, Aarsland D, Day S, Moniz-Cook E, Woods R, et al. Systematic review of services providing information and/or advice to people with dementia and/or their caregivers. Int J Geriatr Psychiatry 2012 Jun;27(6):628-636. DOI: 10.1002/gps.2762; 10.1002/gps.2762.
- (20) Olazaran J, Reisberg B, Clare L, Cruz I, Pena-Casanova J, Del Ser T, et al. Nonpharmacological therapies in Alzheimer's disease: a systematic review of efficacy. Dement Geriatr Cogn Disord 2010;30(2):161-178.
 DOI: 10.1159/000316119; 10.1159/000316119.
- (21) Hurley RV, Patterson TG, Cooley SJ. Meditation-based interventions for family caregivers of people with dementia: a review of the empirical literature. Aging Ment Health 2014;18(3):281-288. DOI: 10.1080/13607863.2013.837145; 10.1080/13607863.2013.837145.
- (22) Marim CM, Silva V, Taminato M, Barbosa DA. Effectiveness of educational programs on reducing the burden of caregivers of elderly individuals with dementia: a systematic review. REV LAT AM ENFERMAGEM 2013 02:267-275.

- (23) McLaren AN, Lamantia MA, Callahan CM. Systematic review of non-pharmacologic interventions to delay functional decline in community-dwelling patients with dementia. Aging Ment Health 2013;17(6):655-666. DOI: 10.1080/13607863.2013.781121; 10.1080/13607863.2013.781121.
- (24) Schoenmakers B, Buntinx F, DeLepeleire J. Supporting the dementia family caregiver: the effect of home care intervention on general well-being. Aging Ment Health 2010 Jan;14(1):44-56. DOI: 10.1080/13607860902845533; 10.1080/13607860902845533.
- (25) Godwin KM, Mills WL, Anderson JA, Kunik ME. Technology-driven interventions for caregivers of persons with dementia: a systematic review. Am J Alzheimers Dis Other Demen 2013 May;28(3):216-222. DOI: 10.1177/1533317513481091; 10.1177/1533317513481091.
- (26) Buettner LL, Yu F, Burgener SC. Evidence supporting technology-based interventions for people with earlystage Alzheimer's disease. J Gerontol Nurs 2010 Oct;36(10):15-19. DOI: 10.3928/00989134-20100831-01; 10.3928/00989134-20100831-01.
- (27) Goy E, Kansagara D, Freeman M. A Systematic Evidence Review of Interventions for Non-professional Caregivers of Individuals with Dementia. 2010 Oct.
- (28) de Werd MM, Boelen D, Rikkert MG, Kessels RP. Errorless learning of everyday tasks in people with dementia. Clin Interv Aging 2013;8:1177-1190. DOI: 10.2147/CIA.S46809; 10.2147/CIA.S46809.
- (29) Martin-Carrasco M, Ballesteros-Rodriguez J, Dominguez-Panchon AI, Munoz-Hermoso P, Gonzalez-Fraile E. Interventions for caregivers of patients with dementia. Actas Esp Psiquiatr 2014 Nov-Dec;42(6):300-314.
- (30) Higgins JPT, Altman DG, Sterne JAC. Chapter 8: Assessing risk of bias in included studies. In: Higgins JPT, Green S, editors. Cochrane Handbook for Systematic Reviews of Interventions. 5.1.0 ed.: The Cochrane Collaboration; 2011.
- (31) de Rotrou J, Cantegreil I, Faucounau V. Do patients diagnosed with Alzheimer's disease benefit from a psycho-educational programme for family caregivers? A randomised controlled study. Int J Geriatr Psychiatry 2011;26(8):833.
- (32) Gavrilova SI, Ferri CP, Mikhaylova N. Helping carers to care—the 10/66 dementia research group's randomized control trial of a caregiver intervention in Russia. Int J Geriatr Psychiatry 2009;24:347.
- (33) Guerra M, Ferri CP, Fonseca M, Banerjee S, Prince M. Helping carers to care: the 10/66 dementia research group's randomized control trial of a caregiver intervention in Peru. Rev Bras Psiquiatr 2011;33(1):47.
- (34) Hepburn KW, Tornatore J, Center B, Ostwald SW. Dementia family caregiver training: affecting beliefs about caregiving and caregiver outcomes. J Am Geriatr Soc 2001;49(4):450.
- (35) Martin-Carrasco M, Martin MF, Valero CP, et al. Effectiveness of a psychoeducational intervention program in the reduction of caregiver burden in Alzheimer's disease patients' caregivers. Int J Geriatr Psychiatry 2009;24(5):489.

- (36) Kurz A, Wagenpfeil S, Hallauer J, Schneider-Schelte H, Jansen S. Evaluation of a brief educational program for dementia carers: the AENEAS study. Int J Geriatr Psychiatry 2010;25(8):861.
- (37) Glueckauf RL, Ketterson TU, Loomis JS, Dages P. Online support and education for dementia caregivers: overview, utilization, and initial program evaluation. Telemed J E Health 2004 Summer;10(2):223-232.
- (38) Beauchamp N, Irvine AB, Seeley J, Johnson B. Worksite-based internet multimedia program for family caregivers of persons with dementia. The Gerontologist 2005;45(6):793.
- (39) Gallagher-Thompson D, China D, Wang P, Thompson L, Peng R, Cheung V, et al. Effectiveness of a psychoeducational skill training DVD program to reduce stress in Chinese American dementia caregivers: results of a preliminary study. Aging and Mental Health 2010;14(3):263.
- (40) Van der Roest HG, Meiland FJ, Jonker C, Dröes R, M. User evaluation of the DEMentia-specific Digital Interactive Social Chart (DEM-DISC). A pilot study among informal carers on its impact, user friendliness and, usefulness. Aging and Mental Health 2010;14:461.
- (41) Marziali E, Garcia LJ. Dementia caregivers' responses to 2 internet-based intervention programs. American Journal of Alzheimer's Disease and Other Dementias 2011;26(1):36.
- (42) Mahoney D, Tarlow BJ, Jones RN. Effects of an automated telephone support system on caregiver burden and anxiety: findings from the REACH for TLC intervention study. The Gerontologist 2003;43(4):556.
- (43) Marziali E, Donahue P. Caring for others: internet video-conferencing group intervention for family caregivers of older adults with neurodegenerative diseases. The Gerontologist 2006;46(3):398.
- (44) Chiu T, Marziali E, Colantonio A, Carswell A, Gruneir M, Tang M, et al. Internet-based caregiver support for Chinese Canadians taking care for a family member with Alzheimer Disease and related dementia. Canadian Journal on Aging 2009;28(4):323.
- (45) Torp S, Hanson E, Hauge S, Ulstein I, Magnusson L. A pilot study of how information and communication technology may contribute to health promotion among elderly spousal carers in Norway. Health and Social Care in the Community 2008;16(1):75.
- (46) Coulehan M, editor. Impact of a Web-Based Educational and Peer-Support Intervention for Dementia Caregivers. Aging in America Conference - American Society on Aging; 2011.
- (47) Lai CK, Wong LF, Liu KH, Lui W, Chan MF, Yap LS. Online and onsite training for family caregivers of people with dementia: results from a pilot study. Int J Geriatr Psychiatry 2013 Jan;28(1):107-108. DOI: 10.1002/gps.3798; 10.1002/gps.3798.
- (48) Davis L, Burgio L, Buckwalter K, Weaver M. A comparison of in-home and telephone-based skill training interventions with caregivers of persons with dementia. Journal of Mental Health & Aging 2004;10(1):31.

- (49) Finkel S, Czaja SJ, Schulz R, Martinovich Z, Harris C, Pezzuto D. E-care: a telecommunications technology intervention for family caregivers of dementia patients. Am J Geriatr Psychiatry 2007 May;15(5):443-448. DOI: 10.1097/JGP.0b013e3180437d87.
- (50) Tremont G, Davis JD, Bishop DS, Fortinsky RH. Telephone-Delivered Psychosocial Intervention Reduces Burden in Dementia Caregivers. Dementia (London) 2008;7(4):503-520. DOI: 10.1177/1471301208096632.
- (51) Winter L, Gitlin LN. Evaluation of a telephone-based support group intervention for female caregivers of community-dwelling individuals with dementia. Am J Alzheimers Dis Other Demen 2006 Dec-2007 Jan;21(6):391-397. DOI: 10.1177/1533317506291371.
- (52) Gallagher-Thompson D, Gray HL, Tang PC, Pu CY, Leung LY, Wang PC, et al. Impact of in-home behavioral management versus telephone support to reduce depressive symptoms and perceived stress in Chinese caregivers: results of a pilot study. Am J Geriatr Psychiatry 2007 May;15(5):425-434. DOI: 10.1097/JGP.0b013e3180312028.
- (53) Hepburn K, Lewis M, Kirk LN, Narayan S, Center B, Bremer KL, et al. Partners in caregiving: A psychoeducation program affecting dementia family caregivers' distress and caregiving outlook. Clinical Gerontologist 2006;29(1):53.
- (54) Zarit SH, Anthony CR, Boutselis M. Interventions with care givers of dementia patients: comparison of two approaches. Psychol Aging 1987 Sep;2(3):225-232.
- (55) Chien WT, Lee IY. Randomized controlled trial of a dementia care programme for families of home-resided older people with dementia. J Adv Nurs 2011 Apr;67(4):774-787. DOI: 10.1111/j.1365-2648.2010.05537.x; 10.1111/j.1365-2648.2010.05537.x.
- (56) Logsdon RG, Pike KC, McCurry SM, Hunter P, Maher J, Snyder L, et al. Early-stage memory loss support groups: outcomes from a randomized controlled clinical trial. J Gerontol B Psychol Sci Soc Sci 2010 Nov;65(6):691-697. DOI: 10.1093/geronb/gbq054; 10.1093/geronb/gbq054.
- (57) Gitlin LN, Winter L, Dennis MP, Hodgson N, Hauck WW. Targeting and managing behavioral symptoms in individuals with dementia: a randomized trial of a nonpharmacological intervention. J Am Geriatr Soc 2010a Aug;58(8):1465-1474. DOI: 10.1111/j.1532-5415.2010.02971.x; 10.1111/j.1532-5415.2010.02971.x.
- (58) Gitlin LN, Winter L, Corcoran M, Dennis MP, Schinfeld S, Hauck WW. Effects of the home environmental skill-building program on the caregiver-care recipient dyad: 6-month outcomes from the Philadelphia REACH Initiative. Gerontologist 2003 Aug;43(4):532-546.
- (59) Ostwald SK, Hepburn KW, Caron W, Burns T, Mantell R. Reducing caregiver burden: a randomized psychoeducational intervention for caregivers of persons with dementia. Gerontologist 1999 Jun;39(3):299-309.

- (60) Gitlin LN, Winter L, Burke J, Chernett N, Dennis MP, Hauck WW. Tailored activities to manage neuropsychiatric behaviors in persons with dementia and reduce caregiver burden: a randomized pilot study. Am J Geriatr Psychiatry 2008 Mar;16(3):229-239. DOI: 10.1097/JGP.0b013e318160da72; 10.1097/JGP.0b013e318160da72.
- (61) Gitlin LN, Corcoran M, Winter L, Boyce A, Hauck WW. A randomized, controlled trial of a home environmental intervention: effect on efficacy and upset in caregivers and on daily function of persons with dementia. Gerontologist 2001 Feb;41(1):4-14.
- (62) Arango-Lasprilla JC, Panyavin I, Merchan EJ, Perrin PB, Arroyo-Anllo EM, Snipes DJ, et al. Evaluation of a group cognitive-behavioral dementia caregiver intervention in Latin America. Am J Alzheimers Dis Other Demen 2014 Sep;29(6):548-555. DOI: 10.1177/1533317514523668; 10.1177/1533317514523668.
- (63) Chen HM, Huang MF, Yeh YC, Huang WH, Chen CS. Effectiveness of coping strategies intervention on caregiver burden among caregivers of elderly patients with dementia. Psychogeriatrics 2014 Dec 17. DOI: 10.1111/psyg.12071; 10.1111/psyg.12071.
- (64) Dowling GA, Merrilees J, Mastick J, Chang VY, Hubbard E, Moskowitz JT. Life enhancing activities for family caregivers of people with frontotemporal dementia. Alzheimer Dis Assoc Disord 2014 Apr-Jun;28(2):175-181. DOI: 10.1097/WAD.0b013e3182a6b905; 10.1097/WAD.0b013e3182a6b905.
- (65) Gonyea JG, Lopez LM, Velasquez EH. The Effectiveness of a Culturally Sensitive Cognitive Behavioral Group Intervention for Latino Alzheimer's Caregivers. Gerontologist 2014 May 22. DOI: 10.1093/geront/gnu045.
- (66) Gallagher-Thompson D, Tzuang M, Hinton L, Alvarez P, Rengifo J, Valverde I, et al. Effectiveness of a Fotonovela for Reducing Depression and Stress in Latino Dementia Family Caregivers. Alzheimer Dis Assoc Disord 2015 Jan 14. DOI: 10.1097/WAD.00000000000077.
- (67) Tremont G, Davis JD, Papandonatos GD, Ott BR, Fortinsky RH, Gozalo P, et al. Psychosocial telephone intervention for dementia caregivers: A randomized, controlled trial. Alzheimers Dement 2014 Jul 26. DOI: 10.1016/j.jalz.2014.05.1752; 10.1016/j.jalz.2014.05.1752.
- (68) Case Management Society of America. Standards of Practice for Case Management. 2010.
- (69) Mohide EA, Pringle DM, Streiner DL, Gilbert JR, Muir G, Tew M. A randomized trial of family caregiver support in the home management of dementia. J Am Geriatr Soc 1990 Apr;38(4):446-454.
- (70) Vernooij-Dassen M. Dementia and Home Care: Determinants of the Sense of Competence of Primary Caregivers and the Effect of Professionally Guided Caregiver Support. Swets & Zeitlinger: Lisse 1993.
- (71) Brodaty H, Mittelman M, Gibson L, Seeher K, Burns A. The effects of counseling spouse caregivers of people with Alzheimer disease taking donepezil and of country of residence on rates of admission to nursing homes and mortality. Am J Geriatr Psychiatry 2009 Sep;17(9):734-743.

- (72) Miller R, Newcomer R, Fox P. Effects of the Medicare Alzheimer's Disease Demonstration on nursing home entry. Health Serv Res 1999 Aug;34(3):691-714.
- (73) Chu P, Edwards J, Levin R, Thomson J. The use of clinical case management for early stage Alzheimer' patients and their families. Am J Alzheimers Dis Other Demen 2000;15:284.
- (74) Brodaty H, Gresham M, Luscombe G. The Prince Henry Hospital dementia caregivers' training programme. Int J Geriatr Psychiatry 1997 Feb;12(2):183-192.
- (75) Eloniemi-Sulkava U, Notkola IL, Hentinen M, Kivela SL, Sivenius J, Sulkava R. Effects of supporting community-living demented patients and their caregivers: a randomized trial. J Am Geriatr Soc 2001 Oct;49(10):1282-1287.
- (76) Eloniemi-Sulkava U, Saarenheimo M, Laakkonen ML, Pietila M, Savikko N, Kautiainen H, et al. Family care as collaboration: effectiveness of a multicomponent support program for elderly couples with dementia. Randomized controlled intervention study. J Am Geriatr Soc 2009 Dec;57(12):2200-2208. DOI: 10.1111/j.1532-5415.2009.02564.x; 10.1111/j.1532-5415.2009.02564.x.
- (77) Wright LK, Litaker M, Laraia MT, DeAndrade S. Continuum of care for Alzheimer's disease: a nurse education and counseling program. Issues Ment Health Nurs 2001 Apr-May;22(3):231-252.
- (78) Teri L, Gibbons LE, McCurry SM, Logsdon RG, Buchner DM, Barlow WE, et al. Exercise plus behavioral management in patients with Alzheimer disease: a randomized controlled trial. JAMA 2003 Oct 15;290(15):2015-2022. DOI: 10.1001/jama.290.15.2015.
- (79) Nobili A, Riva E, Tettamanti M, Lucca U, Liscio M, Petrucci B, et al. The effect of a structured intervention on caregivers of patients with dementia and problem behaviors: a randomized controlled pilot study. Alzheimer Dis Assoc Disord 2004 Apr-Jun;18(2):75-82.
- (80) Callahan CM, Boustani MA, Unverzagt FW, Austrom MG, Damush TM, Perkins AJ, et al. Effectiveness of collaborative care for older adults with Alzheimer disease in primary care: a randomized controlled trial. JAMA 2006 May 10;295(18):2148-2157. DOI: 10.1001/jama.295.18.2148.
- (81) Gaugler JE, Roth DL, Haley WE, Mittelman MS. Can counseling and support reduce burden and depressive symptoms in caregivers of people with Alzheimer's disease during the transition to institutionalization? Results from the New York University caregiver intervention study. J Am Geriatr Soc 2008 Mar;56(3):421-428. DOI: 10.1111/j.1532-5415.2007.01593.x; 10.1111/j.1532-5415.2007.01593.x.
- (82) Duru OK, Ettner SL, Vassar SD, Chodosh J, Vickrey BG. Cost evaluation of a coordinated care management intervention for dementia. Am J Manag Care 2009 Aug;15(8):521-528.
- (83) Fortinsky RH, Kulldorff M, Kleppinger A, Kenyon-Pesce L. Dementia care consultation for family caregivers: collaborative model linking an Alzheimer's association chapter with primary care physicians. Aging Ment Health 2009 Mar;13(2):162-170. DOI: 10.1080/13607860902746160; 10.1080/13607860902746160.

- (84) Wray LO, Shulan MD, Toseland RW, Freeman KE, Vasquez BE, Gao J. The effect of telephone support groups on costs of care for veterans with dementia. Gerontologist 2010 Oct;50(5):623-631. DOI: 10.1093/geront/gnq040; 10.1093/geront/gnq040.
- (85) Samus QM, Johnston D, Black BS, Hess E, Lyman C, Vavilikolanu A, et al. A multidimensional home-based care coordination intervention for elders with memory disorders: the maximizing independence at home (MIND) pilot randomized trial. Am J Geriatr Psychiatry 2014 Apr;22(4):398-414. DOI: 10.1016/j.jagp.2013.12.175; 10.1016/j.jagp.2013.12.175.
- (86) Chodosh J, Colaiaco BA, Connor KI, Cope DW, Liu H, Ganz DA, et al. Dementia Care Management in an Underserved Community: The Comparative Effectiveness of Two Different Approaches. J Aging Health 2015 Feb 4. DOI: 10.1177/0898264315569454.
- (87) Schwenk M, Zieschang T, Oster P, Hauer K. Dual-task performances can be improved in patients with dementia: a randomized controlled trial. Neurology 2010 Jun 15;74(24):1961-1968. DOI: 10.1212/WNL.0b013e3181e39696; 10.1212/WNL.0b013e3181e39696.
- (88) Miu DK, Szeto SL, Mak YF. A randomised controlled trial testing the impact of exercise on cognitive symptoms and disability of residents with dementia. Asian J Gerontol Geriatr 2008;3:8.
- (89) Pomeroy VM, Warren CM, Honeycombe C, Briggs RS, Wilkinson DG, Pickering RM, et al. Mobility and dementia: is physiotherapy treatment during respite care effective? Int J Geriatr Psychiatry 1999 May;14(5):389-397.
- (90) Steinberg M, Leoutsakos JM, Podewils LJ, Lyketsos CG. Evaluation of a home-based exercise program in the treatment of Alzheimer's disease: the Maximizing Independence in Dementia (MIND) study. Int J Geriatr Psychiatry 2009 Jul;24(7):680-685. DOI: 10.1002/gps.2175; 10.1002/gps.2175.
- (91) Shaw FE, Bond J, Richardson DA, Dawson P, Steen IN, McKeith IG, et al. Multifactorial intervention after a fall in older people with cognitive impairment and dementia presenting to the accident and emergency department: randomised controlled trial. BMJ 2003 Jan 11;326(7380):73.
- (92) Toulotte C, Fabre C, Dangremont B, Lensel G, Thevenon A. Effects of physical training on the physical capacity of frail, demented patients with a history of falling: a randomised controlled trial. Age Ageing 2003 Jan;32(1):67-73.
- (93) Burgener SC, Yang Y, Gilbert R, Marsh-Yant S. The effects of a multimodal intervention on outcomes of persons with early-stage dementia. Am J Alzheimers Dis Other Demen 2008 Aug-Sep;23(4):382-394. DOI: 10.1177/1533317508317527; 10.1177/1533317508317527.
- (94) Kwak YS, Um SY, Son TG, Kim DJ. Effect of regular exercise on senile dementia patients. Int J Sports Med 2008 Jun;29(6):471-474. DOI: 10.1055/s-2007-964853.
- (95) Netz Y, Axelrad S, Argov E. Group physical activity for demented older adults feasibility and effectiveness. Clin Rehabil 2007 Nov;21(11):977-986. DOI: 10.1177/0269215507078318.

- (96) Castro CM, Wilcox S, O'Sullivan P, Baumann K, King AC. An exercise program for women who are caring for relatives with dementia. Psychosom Med 2002 May-Jun;64(3):458-468.
- (97) Connell CM, Janevic MR. Effects of a Telephone-Based Exercise Intervention for Dementia Caregiving Wives: A Randomized Controlled Trial. J Appl Gerontol 2009 Apr;28(2):171-194. DOI: 10.1177/0733464808326951.
- (98) King AC, Brassington G. Enhancing physical and psychological functioning in older family caregivers: the role of regular physical activity. Ann Behav Med 1997 Spring;19(2):91-100.
- (99) Holthoff VA, Marschner K, Scharf M, Steding J, Meyer S, Koch R, et al. Effects of Physical Activity Training in Patients with Alzheimer's Dementia: Results of a Pilot RCT Study. PLoS One 2015 Apr 17;10(4):e0121478.
 DOI: 10.1371/journal.pone.0121478; 10.1371/journal.pone.0121478.
- (100) Gitlin LN, Winter L, Dennis MP, Hodgson N, Hauck WW. A biobehavioral home-based intervention and the well-being of patients with dementia and their caregivers: the COPE randomized trial. JAMA 2010b Sep 1;304(9):983-991. DOI: 10.1001/jama.2010.1253; 10.1001/jama.2010.1253.
- (101) Graff MJ, Vernooij-Dassen MJ, Thijssen M, Dekker J, Hoefnagels WH, Rikkert MG. Community based occupational therapy for patients with dementia and their care givers: randomised controlled trial. BMJ 2006 Dec 9;333(7580):1196. DOI: 10.1136/bmj.39001.688843.BE.
- (102) Bakker TJ, Duivenvoorden HJ, van der Lee J, Olde Rikkert MG, Beekman AT, Ribbe MW. Integrative psychotherapeutic nursing home program to reduce multiple psychiatric symptoms of cognitively impaired patients and caregiver burden: randomized controlled trial. Am J Geriatr Psychiatry 2011 Jun;19(6):507-520. DOI: 10.1097/JGP.0b013e3181eafdc6; 10.1097/JGP.0b013e3181eafdc6.
- (103) Voigt-Radloff S, Graff M, Leonhart R, Schornstein K, Jessen F, Bohlken J, et al. A multicentre RCT on community occupational therapy in Alzheimer's disease: 10 sessions are not better than one consultation. BMJ Open 2011 Aug 9;1(1):e000096-2011-000096. DOI: 10.1136/bmjopen-2011-000096; 10.1136/bmjopen-2011-000096.
- (104) Brunelle-Hamann L, Thivierge S, Simard M. Impact of a cognitive rehabilitation intervention on neuropsychiatric symptoms in mild to moderate Alzheimer's disease. Neuropsychol Rehabil 2014 Oct 14:1-31. DOI: 10.1080/09602011.2014.964731.
- (105) Thivierge S, Jean L, Simard M. A randomized cross-over controlled study on cognitive rehabilitation of instrumental activities of daily living in Alzheimer disease. Am J Geriatr Psychiatry 2014 Nov;22(11):1188-1199. DOI: 10.1016/j.jagp.2013.03.008 [doi].
- (106) Dopp CM, Graff MJ, Teerenstra S, Olde Rikkert MG, Nijhuis-van der Sanden MW, Vernooij-Dassen MJ. Effectiveness of a training package for implementing a community-based occupational therapy program in dementia: A cluster randomized controlled trial. Clin Rehabil 2014 Dec 28. DOI: 10.1177/0269215514564699.

- (107) Muniz R, Serra CM, Reisberg B, Rojo JM, Del Ser T, Pena Casanova J, et al. Cognitive-Motor Intervention in Alzheimer's Disease: Long-Term Results from the Maria Wolff Trial. J Alzheimers Dis 2014 Dec 29. DOI: 10.3233/JAD-142364.
- (108) Bohnert N, Chagnon J, Dion P. Population Projections for Canada (2013 to 2063), Provinces and Territories (2013 to 2038). 2015;91-620-X. Available at: <u>http://www.statcan.gc.ca/pub/91-520-x/91-520-x2014001-eng.htm</u>.
- (109) Alzheimer Society of Canada. Rising Tide: The Impact of Dementia on Canadian Society. 2010.
- (110) Adey J. Sounding the alarm on the growing dementia crisis. CBC News 2015 May 24, 2015.
- (111) Government of Newfoundland and Labrador. Regional Demographic Profiles -- Newfoundland and Labrador. 2007; Available at: <u>www.economics.gov.nl.ca/pdf2007/regionaldemographicprofiles.pdf</u>. Accessed 6/30, 2015.
- (112) Wideman G. Strengthening Rural Social Work Practice with Older Persons: The Relevance of Intermediate Resources in One Newfoundland Community. 2010.
- (113) Community Accounts Unit. Multi-Variable Regional Comparison Feature. Available at: <u>http://nl.communityaccounts.ca/mvrc.asp? =0bfAjlydpaWrnbSTh5-</u> <u>FvJxyxGiWlb7NqpODzKC2WQ # =0bfAjlydpaWrnbSTh5-FvJxyxGiWlb7NqpODzKC2WYDDj6XQusZjpZ2-</u> <u>isWwuoOcrcSZwK5ru56ywsuajVyNkbSNmsh.wr.fiL5kvp.booN2cWleVaewuZdnz6e5dLSbwKS508WRxZS1j</u> <u>5qHl52fsqeiblm6nLGu</u>. Accessed 7/6, 2015.
- (114) Community Accounts Unit. Labrador Rural Secretariat Region Profile. Available at: <u>http://nl.communityaccounts.ca/profiles.asp?_=vb7En4WVgbWy0nE_</u>. Accessed 7/6, 2015.
- (115) Montevecchi G. Factors Influencing Access to Health Care Service in Labrador -- A Case Study of Two Distinct Regions. 2012.
- (116) Milan A, Laflamme N, Wong I. Diversity of grandparents living with their grandchildren. 2015;Catalogue no. 75-006-X, no. 2015001.
- (117) Department of Health and Community Services, Government of Newfoundland and Labrador. Income Based Financial Assessment Policy Manual for the Home Support & Special Assistance Programs. 2015.
- (118) Department of Health and Community Services, Government of Newfoundland and Labrador. Provincial Home Support Program Operational Standards. 2005.
- (119) Department of Health and Community Services, Government of Newfoundland and Labrador. Close to Home: A Strategy for Long-Term Care and Community Support Services. 2012.
- (120) Government of Newfoundland and Labrador. Investing in Healthy, Age-Friendly, Inclusive Communities. 2015.

- (121) Noel M. Community Resources -- Central Region, Green Bay & Surrounding Area (Rural Setting) --Environmental Scan of resources/supports for those living with dementia. 2013.
- (122) Seniors Resource Centre. Caregivers Program History. 2013; Available at: <u>http://www.seniorsresource.ca/caregivershistory.php</u>. Accessed 6/29, 2015.
- (123) Department of Health and Community Services, Government of Newfoundland and Labrador. Long Term Care Facilities In Newfoundland and Labrador, Operational Standards. 2005.
 - (124) Department of Health and Community Services, Government of Newfoundland and Labrador. Provincial Personal Care Home Program, Operational Standards. 2007.
 - (125) Department of Health and Community Services, Government of Newfoundland and Labrador. Provincial Protective Community Residence Operational Standards. 2009.
 - (126) Alzheimer Scotland. Allied Health Professionals Delivering Integrated Dementia Care: Living Well with Community Support. 2014.
 - (127) Alzheimer Scotland. Allied Health Professionals Delivering Post-Diagnostic Support: Living Well with Dementia. 2014.
 - (128) Goodwin N, Dixon A, Anderson G, Wodchis W. Providing integrated care for older people with complex needs -- Lessons from seven international case studies. 2014.